THE NOISY INPUT HYPOTHESIS OF SCHIZOPHRENIA

by

AUDREY HIX GUTHERIE

(Under the Direction of Billy R. Hammond, Jr.)

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Differences in the level of scotopic intrinsic noise were examined in a group of 15 schizophrenia participants and 15 matched controls in order to test the Noisy Input Hypothesis of Schizophrenia, which states that many of the higher-order disturbances that characterize the disorder may be partly due to increased intrinsic noise at the level of sensory input. In addition to intrinsic noise, a number of other variables were measured including scotopic sensitivity (SS), macular pigment optical density (MPOD), critical flicker fusion frequency (CFF), and lens optical density (OD). With the exception of CFF, none of these variables have been assessed in schizophrenia but, based on past evidence, might be expected to differ for this group. Method: Intrinsic noise was assessed by measuring variability in scotopic thresholds. Thresholds were measured using the method of constant stimuli and a two-alternative forced choice procedure. The stimuli consisted of three 1.85-degree diameter test stimuli (at 410, 510, and 565 nm) presented at 10-degrees in the periphery. Lens OD was derived by subtracting the 410 nm log relative scotopic sensitivity (LRSS) values from the 565 nm values. MPOD was measured with a 1-deg test stimulus using heterochromatic flicker photometry. CFF values were obtained with a 1-deg, 570 nm stimulus using the method of limits. Results: The schizophrenia participants did not differ from the control participants with respect to intrinsic noise, LRSS, or

lens OD. In contrast, average CFF thresholds (p < 0.004) were significantly lower in the schizophrenia group. The MP density of the schizophrenia participants was 24% lower than the controls and marginally significant (p < 0.08). There were no significant associations between the dependent variables except for MPOD and LRSS. <u>Discussion</u>: The main result of this study, similar intrinsic noise levels in schizophrenia participants were most similar on those items which might be expected to be most linked to the hypothesis (lens OD, LRSS, and intrinsic noise). The largest difference between the groups was in CFF, which is widely considered to be determined by processing at the level of the visual cortex. One interpretation of these results is that many of the visual disturbances reported in schizophrenia are mediated by post-receptoral mechanisms. More data (e.g., larger samples using non-medicated schizophrenia participants), particularly photopic, however, are needed to confirm this interpretation.

INDEX WORDS: Schizophrenia, Intrinsic noise, Scotopic sensitivity, Macular pigment, Critical flicker fusion frequency, Lens optical density

THE NOISY INPUT HYPOTHESIS OF SCHIZOPHRENIA

by

AUDREY HIX GUTHERIE

B.S., The University of Georgia, 2000M.S., The University of Georgia, 2002

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of The University of Georgia in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

ATHENS, GA.

2005

© 2005

Audrey Hix Gutherie

All Rights Reserved

THE NOISY INPUT HYPOTHESIS OF SCHIZOPHRENIA

by

Audrey Hix Gutherie

Major Professor: Billy R. Hammond, Jr.

Committee:

James M. Brown Jennifer E. McDowell Ronald A. Schuchard

Electronic Version Approved:

Maureen Grasso Dean of the Graduate School The University of Georgia August 2005

DEDICATION

I dedicate this dissertation to my wonderful husband, Corey, and my family. Without their love and support I could not have accomplished so many of my life goals.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to express my extreme gratitude to my friend and major advisor, Randy Hammond, for his guidance and assistance on this project. I could not have accomplished such a feat without him. In addition, I would like to thank Jennifer McDowell, Brett Clementz, Ron Schuchard, Jim Brown, and Caroline Chapman whose assistance and advice have also been instrumental to the completion of this dissertation. Finally, I would like to acknowledge Lisa Renzi, Michael Engles, and Jim Stringham for their support and encouragement these past two years of my graduate career.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOW	VLDEGMENTS	V
LIST OF 7	TABLES	viii
LIST OF I	FIGURES	ix
СНАРТЕН	R	
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
	Specific Aims	1
	Overview and Rationale	2
	Lower-Level Visual Deficits Found in Schizophrenia	5
	Possible Scotopic Sensitivity Deficits in Schizophrenia	9
	Intrinsic Noise in the Visual System	11
	Hypotheses of the Present Study	14
2.	RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS	16
	Participants	16
	Methodology for CFF Measures	17
	Methodology for MPOD Measures	18
	Methodology for SS Measures	19
	Derivation of Intrinsic Noise from Scotopic Thresholds	24
	Derivation of Lens Optical Density	25
3.	RESULTS	27
	Statistical Analyses on Demographics	27

	Main Statistical Analyses	27
	Correlational Analyses	
4.	DISCUSSION	31
	Hypothesis 1	31
	Hypotheses 2 & 3	33
	Hypotheses 4 & 5	34
	Hypothesis 6	35
	Hypothesis 7	36
	Hypothesis 8	
	Hypotheses 9 & 10	
	Concluding Remarks	
REFERE	NCES	43

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 1: Demographic Characteristics of Participants: Schizophrenia vs. Control Participants17
Table 2.1: Descriptive Statistics for the Schizophrenia and Control Participants on IntrinsicNoise, LRSS (at 510 nm), Lens OD, MPOD, and CFF
Table 2.2: Results from the Directional Independent Samples T-tests Comparing Schizophrenia and Control Participants on Intrinsic Noise, LRSS (at 510 nm), Lens OD, MPOD, and CFF29
Table 3: Pearson Correlation Matrix

LIST OF FIGURES

P	'age
Figure 1. Schematic of the Maxwellian-view optical system	21
<i>Figure 2.</i> Rod extinction curve (solid line) with human scotopic sensitivity curve superimpose (dotted) (from Dartnall, 1953; CIE, 1951)	ed 22
<i>Figure 3</i> . Sample psychometric function from control participant #9 (LRSS = 3.59)	24
Figure 4. Scatterplots of LRSS vs. Probits	26
<i>Figure 5.</i> Scatterplot of MPOD vs. Intrinsic Noise with regression line $[Y = 0.87 + (-0.43)x] r$ -0.38, $p < 0.01$, $n = 40$	r = 37

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Specific Aims.

1.) The main objective of the present study was to test the *Noisy Input Hypothesis of Schizophrenia*. Specifically, whether schizophrenia participants have greater intrinsic noise in their sensory systems than matched controls was investigated by measuring the variability in scotopic visual thresholds. Thus, the current study assessed scotopic intrinsic noise, which is hereafter referred to as *scotopic intrinsic noise* or simply *intrinsic noise*.

2.) Another goal of this project was to provide baseline data on the scotopic vision of schizophrenia patients, a group particularly prone to lower-level visual problems. Although many studies have evaluated the photopic vision of schizophrenia participants, there are no published data regarding the scotopic vision of schizophrenia participants. Thus, whether or not the scotopic sensitivity (SS) of schizophrenia patients significantly differed from controls was assessed. Critical flicker fusion frequency (CFF) values were also measured in these two groups. Unlike scotopic thresholds (sensitivity = 1/threshold), CFF is probably determined post-receptorally and is often not considered as part of the input stage in visual processing. Some limited data has suggested that CFF is decreased in schizophrenia.

3.) Another goal of the present study was to test some additional factors that may influence intrinsic noise. For example, increased lens optical density (OD) could influence intrinsic noise based on gain related to compensation effects necessary due to increased optical filtering. Retinal macular pigment could influence intrinsic noise based on both filtering and biological effects. If these variables influence intrinsic noise and differed according to schizophrenia status, they may partially explain any intrinsic noise differences found between schizophrenia and normal control participants.

Overview and Rationale.

Past studies have found that schizophrenia patients exhibit specific deficits in lower-level visual functioning. For example, schizophrenia patients have impairments in contrast sensitivity (Kéri, Antal, Szekeres et al., 2002), temporal vision (Slaghuis & Bishop, 2001), spatio-temporal vision (Kéri et al., 2002; Schwartz, McGinn, & Winstead, 1987), and backward masking (Butler, Harkavy-Friedman, Amador et al., 1996; Cadenhead, Serper, & Braff, 1998; Slaghuis & Bakker, 1995) when compared to control participants. The findings of many of these studies suggest a magnocellular (M) pathway deficit in schizophrenia (e.g., Slaghuis & Bishop, 2001; Cadenhead et al., 1998). The M pathway extends from the retina to higher cortical areas, and whether the origin of the deficit is sensory or cortical is unknown.

Since the primary symptoms of schizophrenia are higher-order cognitive deficits (e.g. hallucinations, delusions, impoverished speech, etc.), the majority of the research on the etiology and treatment of the disorder has focused on higher-order processing and has adopted a top-down view of the origin of the symptoms. From a top-down view-point, sensory dysfunction would result from cortical dysfunction. However, a recent study on the steady state visual evoked potentials (ssVEPs) of schizophrenia participants indicated that visual deficits could originate earlier, e.g. pre-cortical (Kim, Zemon, Saperstein et al., 2005). The authors also suggested that lower-level processing deficits likely contribute to the higher-level cognitive and perceptual disturbances that are the hallmark symptoms of the disorder.

Therefore, the present study proposes a new bottom-up theory of schizophrenia: the Noisy Input Hypothesis of Schizophrenia. According to this hypothesis, the higher-order disturbances found in schizophrenia (e.g. visual or auditory hallucinations, etc.) may be largely due to increased intrinsic noise at the level of sensory input (e.g. retina, cochlea, etc.), which the brain would interpret as actual sensory signals (i.e., impaired input results in impaired output). The present study focuses on how this hypothesis applies to the visual system; it could, however, be applied to other sensory systems. A certain level of intrinsic noise is inherent in all visual thresholds; therefore, performance at threshold is heavily limited by intrinsic noise (Donner, 1992). Although it can arise at numerous levels of the visual system, intrinsic noise associated with scotopic thresholds is thought to originate at the input stage, i.e., at the level of the retina (van Rossum & Smith, 1998). When in a fully dark-adapted state, the visual system is maximally sensitive, and the effects of intrinsic noise should be most evident. Thus, as a first test of the Noisy Input Hypothesis of Schizophrenia, the present study investigated the scotopic or dark-adapted thresholds of schizophrenia participants compared to controls. A further rationale for selecting scotopic measures as opposed to photopic thresholds is that no published data exists regarding the scotopic thresholds of schizophrenia patients. This information would be particularly informative in the literature on M pathway deficits in schizophrenia, since both the M pathway and scotopic thresholds are mediated by the rod photoreceptors.

If schizophrenia participants have increased intrinsic noise at the retinal stage of visual processing, one could question what factors might promote such increases. One possibility is increased absorbance of light by dense ocular media. A denser lens could decrease the amount of light incident on the retina. In order to deal with an overall decrease in input, the visual system may increase gain to offset such loss (Werner, 1996). Such increases in gain might be

accompanied by increases in intrinsic noise. Another possibility is that a more opaque lens would cause increased light scattering. Although some of this scattered light would still strike the photoreceptors in the direct light beam path, most of it would likely strike other photoreceptors. Thus, increased intrinsic noise could be due to the decreased light in the beam path and/or scattered light striking other photoreceptors. In any event, increased lens OD could influence intrinsic noise.

Schizophrenia participants are often required to take antipsychotic medications for extended periods of time, and studies have indicated that common antipsychotic drugs such as chlorpromazine and several other phenothiazines are associated with increased lens OD (see Shahzad, Suleman, Shahab et al., 2002 for review). In order to control for the possibility that schizophrenia participants have denser lenses compared to control participants, lens OD was assessed. Moreover, whether or not changes in lens OD are related to changes in intrinsic noise was evaluated.

Another factor that may influence scotopic intrinsic noise is retinal concentrations of macular pigment (MP). Past studies have found that macular pigment optical density (MPOD) and LRSS (Hammond, Wooten, & Snodderly, 1998) are positively related. MP is primarily composed of the dietary carotenoids lutein (L) and zeaxanthin (Z) (Bone, Landrum, & Tarsis, 1985), which are highly concentrated in rod outer-segments (Rapp, Maple, & Choi, 2000). Moreover, Hammond and Wooten (2005) have suggested that MP might be related to intrinsic noise based on numerous biological effects throughout the visual system. Thus, MP was measured as another possible factor that could help explain any differences found between the schizophrenia and normal control participants.

Finally, CFF values were obtained. One past study has indicated that CFF values are reduced in schizophrenia participants compared to controls (Black, Franklin, de Silva et al., 1975). Therefore, CFF was measured with two goals in mind. The first was simply to measure at least one variable that had been shown to differ in schizophrenia to assure that the current sample was characteristic of other schizophrenia samples. The second goal was to measure a variable that would not reflect the subtle alterations in input that were addressed with the other variables (such as intrinsic noise and SS). Obviously, CFF can be altered by gross alterations in input. For example, disease changes in the retina such as age-related macular degeneration have been shown to cause flicker abnormalities (Phipps, Dang, Vingrys et al., 2004). In most cases, however, CFF thresholds are determined by the central nervous system (CNS) (for review see Simonson & Brožek, 1952). In fact, CFF thresholds are often used as an overall indicator of CNS functioning (e.g., Curran & Wattis, 2000; Curran, Wilson, Musa et al., 2004). Moreover, animal studies have indicated that CFF is determined by the cells of the primary visual cortex (e.g., Wells, Bernstein, Scott et al., 2001). Therefore, if differences in CFF are found in the absence of alterations in input (e.g. SS) for the patient population, this would argue against a retinal origin for visual disturbances in schizophrenia.

Lower-Level Visual Deficits Found in Schizophrenia.

Contrast Sensitivity.

Past studies have indicated that schizophrenia participants have significantly altered contrast sensitivity (CS) compared to control participants. The normal contrast sensitivity function (CSF) of humans is an inverted U-shaped curve with peak sensitivity to spatial frequencies around 4-6 cycles per degree of visual angle (c/deg). Kéri, Antal, Szekeres et al. (2002) found that medicated schizophrenia patients exhibit CS deficits for medium and high spatial frequencies (2.9-14.4 c/deg) and that the differences were more marked in the patients receiving higher doses of conventional antipsychotics (e.g., haloperidol). Studies have also indicated that there is a difference between the CS of Type I (schizophrenia patients with mostly positive symptoms such as visual and auditory hallucinations and delusions) and Type II schizophrenia patients (patients with mostly negative symptoms such as anhedonia or impoverished speech). For instance, Slaghuis (1998) found that Type I schizophrenia participants only showed deficits in CS at the higher spatial frequencies (i.e., 4, 8, & 12 c/deg) and that Type II schizophrenia participants had attenuated CS at all spatial frequencies tested (i.e., 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, & 12 c/deg). Although the effects of medication cannot be completely ruled out, the results of Slaghuis (1998) cannot be explained by medication-use alone. Slaghuis found that there were no significant differences in medication-use between the Type I and Type II schizophrenia patients; thus, if medication was the sole cause of changes in the CS deficits then there should have been a global and uniform decline in visual performance in the patients compared to the controls. However, as mentioned, there were differential impairments in the two groups of patients with Type I schizophrenia patients only exhibiting deficits at certain frequencies. Therefore, it is evident from the literature that individuals with schizophrenia have significantly impaired CS, but the exact nature of their deficit depends on whether they present more negative or positive symptoms of the disorder and the role of medication is not completely understood. Temporal Vision.

In addition to deficits in CS, schizophrenia patients also exhibit temporal vision deficits compared to normal controls (e.g., Slaghuis & Bishop, 2001; Black et al., 1975). Temporal vision is characterized by the temporal modulation transfer function (TMTF) (sensitivity vs. temporal frequency). Like spatial vision, human sensitivity for temporal frequencies drops off at

lower and higher presentation rates. A common visual measure of human temporal vision is the high frequency cut-off value of the TMTF, critical flicker fusion frequency (CFF). CFF is the average rate that a given stimulus (usually presented as a square wave) begins flickering (as the rate is slowed) and fuses (as the rate is increased). Since CFF is linearly related to luminance (the Ferry-Porter law), it is also possible to keep presentation rate constant, and measure thresholds by varying luminance (in this case, the value is called flicker sensitivity, FS).

Studies have found impairments in both FS and CFF in schizophrenia. For example, Slaghuis and Bishop (2001) found that Type II schizophrenia patients have reductions in luminance FS at medium (8-10 Hertz, Hz) and high temporal frequencies (>16 Hz); Type I schizophrenia patients did not show a deficit in FS. Thus, consistent with Slaghuis (1998), the results of Slaghuis and Bishop (2001) cannot be explained by medication-use alone. Again, all their patients were on a stable regime of antipsychotic medication; however, they did not find a global reduction in FS in schizophrenia. In addition, one past study found that medicated schizophrenia patients have reduced CFF values (mean CFF = 37 Hz) compared to controls (mean CFF = 40 Hz; Black et al., 1975). However, since many of the participants were on antipsychotic medication, the effects of medication could not be ruled out. In general, it appears that schizophrenia patients have significant FS and CFF deficits. The influence of medication, however, is not completely understood.

Spatio-temporal Vision.

Schizophrenia participants also exhibit dysfunctions in spatio-temporal (S-T) processing. The normal visual system tends to have a single peak that drops off at low and high frequencies for both spatial and temporal domains. Sensitivity to high spatial frequencies decreases slightly at high temporal frequencies, and sensitivity to low spatial frequencies is increased substantially. At very low temporal frequencies, sensitivity to low spatial frequencies is decreased (Kelly, 1983, 1984). Kéri et al. (2002) found that medicated schizophrenia patients have impaired performance compared to normal controls over a large range of spatial frequencies (i.e., 0.5-14.4 c/deg) at a temporal frequency of 8 Hz and that the differences were more marked in the patients receiving higher doses of conventional antipsychotics (e.g., haloperidol). Consistent with Kéri et al. (2002), Schwartz et al. (1987) found that medicated schizophrenia patients have S-T deficits; however, unlike the former authors, they did not find an effect of medication. Their results indicate that schizophrenia patients tend to be poorer at detecting temporal changes at medium to high spatial frequencies (i.e., 3.25 & 6.5 Hz), independent of medication dosage, compared to controls (Schwartz et al., 1987). Therefore, past studies reveal that schizophrenia participants have significant S-T CS deficits; however, again the influence of medication is not entirely understood.

Backward Masking.

Perhaps the most well-researched lower-level visual parameter in the schizophrenia literature is backward masking (BM). Masking paradigms can provide information on both spatial and temporal vision. They involve using one stimulus, the mask, to reduce the visibility of another stimulus, the target (usually a spatial frequency grating). BM involves presenting the mask after the target stimulus. By presenting the mask quickly after the target, the processing of the target is disrupted. Schizophrenia patients show marked deficits in BM tasks (Butler et al., 1996; Cadenhead et al., 1998; Slaghuis & Bakker, 1995). For example, they require longer interstimulus intervals between the target stimulus and mask in order to correctly identify the target compared to controls (Braff, Saccuzzo, & Geyer, 1991). Moreover, past studies have indicated that these BM deficits are not due to antipsychotic medication (e.g., Butler et al., 1996). In addition, remitted schizophrenia patients (Green, Nuechlerlein, Breitmeyer et al., 1999) and unaffected siblings of schizophrenia patients (Green, Nuechterlein, & Breitmeyer, 1997) also show significant deficits in BM, which lends support to the idea that the impairments are independent of medication-use. Therefore, BM impairments appear to be one of the stronger visual indicators of susceptibility to schizophrenia; poor performance on BM tasks is often considered a vulnerability factor for developing the disorder.

Some studies have found that the negative symptoms of schizophrenia are more strongly correlated with BM disparities (e.g., Voruganti, Heslegrave, & Awad, 1997) and that Type II schizophrenia patients are more affected by BM than controls and Type I schizophrenia patients (e.g., Slaghuis & Curran, 1999; Slaghuis & Bakker, 1995). Thus, although past studies have consistently found BM impairments in schizophrenia (independent of medication-use), there seems to be a differential effect in Type I and Type II schizophrenia.

Taken together, it is clear that schizophrenia can be characterized as a condition associated with a high degree of visual co-morbidity. Although many visual parameters have been measured (particularly photopic, temporal, and spatially-defined stimuli), many visual parameters have not been evaluated. Evaluating the relation between schizophrenia and visual performance using different types of stimuli (e.g. scotopic measures of visual sensitivity) is important since differences on these measures (or similarities) may reveal fundamental aspects of the condition.

Possible Scotopic Sensitivity Deficits in Schizophrenia.

An extensive literature search revealed only one article that mentioned psychiatric disorders and scotopic thresholds (i.e., Granger, 1957). Granger reported that participants with psychiatric disorders (neuroses and psychoses) have significantly higher scotopic thresholds than

controls. Although it is likely that some of Granger's participants had schizophrenia, the author did not report the exact nature of the psychiatric disorders. Therefore, given the information available, it was concluded that no published data exists specifically regarding the scotopic sensitivity (SS) of schizophrenia patients.

There are at least three lines of evidence consistent with the possibility that schizophrenia patients have SS deficits. (1.) A number of past studies have indicated that the visual deficits found in schizophrenia are due to a dysfunction in the transient or M pathway (e.g., Butler, Schechter, Zemon et al., 2001; Cadenhead et al., 1998). Moreover, psychophysical and electrophysical evidence has indicated that the M pathway plays a dominant role in scotopic vision (Benedek, Benedek, Kéri et al., 2003). Benedek et al. (2003) measured static and dynamic CS and ssVEPs (in non-diseased individuals) under photopic and scotopic conditions, and their results indicated that the M pathway most likely mediates scotopic visual activity. Therefore, if schizophrenia patients have imparied M pathways and M pathways mediate scotopic vision, then it follows that schizophrenia participants should also have impaired SS.

(2.) Medicated and drug-naïve schizophrenia patients have reduced docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) (Khan, Evans, Gunna et al., 2002), which is the most abundant essential polyunsaturated fatty acid in the phospholipids of the rod outer segment membranes. Since human SS is mediated by the rod photoreceptors, it is possible that reduced DHA affects rod function and in turn SS. Consistent with this idea, reduced retinal DHA content by dietary means alters rod photopigment content and function *in vivo* in rats (Bush, Malnoë, Remé et al., 1994). Therefore, if schizophrenia patients have reduced DHA and DHA alters rod-mediated functions such as SS, it is possible that schizophrenia participants may also have SS deficits.

(3.) Schizophrenia patients have altered electroretinogram (ERG) waveforms compared to normal controls. Specifically, they have reduced a-wave amplitudes, which originate from rod and cone photoreceptor function (Warner, Laugharne, Peet et al., 1999). Thus, if schizophrenia patients have altered rod function compared to controls, as suggested by ERG studies, it is probable that this difference would be reflected in psychophysical studies comparing the SS of schizophrenia patients versus controls.

Taken together, these three lines of evidence form a strong argument for the possibility of a SS deficit in schizophrenia. Thus, one objective of the present study was to provide baseline data on this visual parameter in schizophrenia. If such an impairment exists in the disorder, it would provide further support for the idea of a M pathway deficit in schizophrenia. Furthermore, information on the scotopic vision of schizophrenia participants would aid in a better understanding of the underlying pathology in the disorder.

Intrinsic Noise in the Visual System

The main objective of the present study was to investigate whether schizophrenia patients have greater intrinsic noise in their visual systems than controls by measuring the intrinsic noise inherent in scotopic visual thresholds. Noise, in general, can be defined as "a stochastic disturbance that obscures information of interest" (Cohn & Lasley, 1986, p. 501). Consistent with this definition, the present study defined <u>intrinsic</u> noise as stochastic disturbances that occur within a system (i.e., the visual system) that obscures the information of interest (i.e., the stimuli used in the study). Intrinsic noise is a fundamental part of every neurological system, including the visual system, and all visual thresholds are affected by intrinsic noise (for a review see Cohn & Lasley, 1986 or Cohn, 2004). For instance, studies have consistently found that scotopic or rod-mediated thresholds are significantly limited by intrinsic noise (Donner, 1992; Copenhagen,

Donner, & Reuter, 1987). Results of single-cell recordings of membrane currents from rod outersegments of healthy monkeys show continuous random fluctuations in activity in the absence of any stimulation (in the dark) (Baylor, Nunn, & Schnapf, 1984); thus, there is a significant level of ongoing intrinsic noise generated in the rod outer-segments of primates. Furthermore, as mentioned in the overview, intrinsic noise associated with scotopic thresholds is thought to originate at the level of the retina (van Rossum & Smith, 1998).

Also as mentioned in the overview, biological changes in the density of the crystalline lens could influence intrinsic noise. Studies have indicated that common antipsychotic drugs, which schizophrenia participants are often required to take for extended periods of time, have been strongly associated with increased lens OD (see Shahzad et al., 2002 for review). Increased lens OD could significantly reduce the amount of light incident upon the photoreceptors and/or affect the amount of light scattering within the eye. These changes would undoubtedly effect the functioning of the photoreceptors and influence the level of intrinsic noise within the visual system. In order to assess the possibilities that schizophrenia participants have denser lenses compared to controls and that increased lens OD is related to elevated intrinsic noise, lens OD was measured and a correlational analysis was conducted on lens OD and intrinsic noise. *Possible Influence of MP & DHA on Intrinsic Noise & Their Relations to Schizophrenia*.

In addition to the biological changes, another factor that may contribute to scotopic intrinsic noise is retinal concentrations of dietary-derived substances such as carotenoids and fatty acids. As mentioned, the carotenoids L and Z, which when located in the retina are referred to as MP, are heavily concentrated in the rod outer segments (Rapp et al., 2000). Moreover, past studies have indicated there is a significant positive relation between MPOD and SS (e.g., Hammond et al., 1998). Similarly, (as also mentioned) DHA is the most abundant essential polyunsaturated fatty acid (EPUFA) in the rod outer segments and may influence rhodopsin activation. Therefore, it is probable that reductions in either MPOD or DHA could influence rod photoreceptor functioning and thereby influence scotopic intrinsic noise in the schizophrenia and control participants of the current study.

In addition, recent monkey and human studies have indicated that there is a significant interaction between MP and omega-3 fatty acids, such as DHA, in the eye (Leung, Sandstrom, Zucker et al., 2004; Snodderly, Chung, Caldarella et al., 2005). Snodderly et al. (2005) supplemented 50 healthy women (ages 60-80 years) with either a placebo, L, DHA, or a combination of L and DHA and measured the effects of the supplementation on MPOD. They found that L alone increased MPOD eccentrically (i.e., 3-deg and 5-deg eccentricity) in the retina, and DHA alone increased MPOD in the most central portion of the retina where MP is generally the highest in concentration. The most interesting finding was the changes that occurred in the combination group; there were increases in both central and peripheral MPOD. This result indicated that DHA facilitated the accumulation of L in the blood.

Although it would be optimal to directly measure both MPOD and DHA in the retinas of the schizophrenia and control participants, there is not a direct method available to assess retinal concentrations of DHA *in vivo*. There is, however, an *in vivo* method for measureing retinal concentrations of MP, which recent studies have now shown may be a marker for DHA (Leung et al, 2004; Snodderly et al., 2005). MPOD values were obtained for the present study using a standard psychophysical procedure called heterochromatic flicker photometry. A difference between the mean MPOD of the schizophrenia participants and the controls was expected for the following reason: Past studies have indicated that schizophrenia patients have significant differences in DHA concentrations compared to controls. For example, schizophrenia

participants (medicated and drug naïve) have overall reduced cortical levels of the DHA compared to normal controls (Arvindakshan, Ghate, Ranjekar et al., 2003a; Khan et al., 2002; Assies, Lieverse, Vreken et al., 2001). Additionally, studies have found that schizophrenia patients have an increased rate of loss of DHA from the Sn2¹ position of the phospholipids (PLs) of their cell membranes. This loss leads to changes in the functioning of the membrane-associated proteins and cell signaling and a reduced rate of incorporation of the fatty acids into membrane PLs (for review see Horrobin, 1998). Thus, if DHA is significantly reduced in schizophrenia and DHA significantly influences MPOD, it is likely that schizophrenia participants also have reduced MPOD. Furthermore, it is possible these reductions could be related to increased scotopic intrinsic noise.

Hypotheses of the Present Study.

Hypotheses 1& 2: Schizophrenia participants have higher levels of scotopic intrinsic noise and elevated scotopic thresholds compared to matched controls.

Hypothesis 3: Intrinsic noise is positively related to SS.

Hypotheses 4 & 5: Schizophrenia participants have significantly increased lens OD compared to controls, and lens OD is positively correlated with intrinsic noise.

Hypotheses 6 & 7: Schizophrenia participants have reduced MPOD compared to matched controls, and MPOD is negatively correlated with intrinsic noise.

Hypothesis 8: Schizophrenia patients have decreased CFF values compared to normal, healthy participants.

Hypotheses 9 & 10: MPOD is positively related to CFF and SS.

¹ The three carbon atoms of the glycerol backbone of the general structure of a phospholipid are designated Sn1, Sn2, & Sn3.

Past studies have indicated that there is a significant positive relation between MPOD and CFF (Hammond & Wooten, 2005). This relation was seen for both younger and older participants. In contrast, Hammond et al. (1998) found a relation between MPOD and SS that was age-dependent; it was not present in the younger participants tested (i.e., ages 24-36 years). It was predicted that the results of the present study would be consistent with these past results.

CHAPTER 2

RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS

Participants.

Fifteen individuals diagnosed with schizophrenia (8 men and 7 women, mean age = 41.5, range = 26-55 yrs.) and fifteen matched control participants (8 men and 7 women, mean age = 41.13, range = 23-57 yrs.) were recruited for this study from various Georgia communities (e.g. Athens, Atlanta, etc.). In addition to age and sex, participants were matched on ethnicity and smoking history (see Table 1), and participants were excluded if they reported any ocular or systemic diseases that would be expected to influence the outcome of this study (e.g. macular degeneration). Furthermore, participants were matched to some extent on diet. Specifically, self-report information on the participants' average number of servings of fruits and vegetables per week was obtained on all but one participant (who did not provide this information) via a personal data questionnaire. Again, see Table 1 for a summary of that data.

All schizophrenia patients were on atypical antipsychotic medication, (e.g., olanzapine and risperidone), except for two patients who were reportedly unmedicated at the time of the study. Moreover, patients were psychologically assessed by two clinical psychologists on the Structured Clinical Interview for the DSM-IV (SCID-IV) in order to confirm their diagnosis of schizophrenia. Participants in the control group reported no personal or family history of schizophrenia or any other mental disorder.

Methodology for CFF Measures.

Apparatus.

A Newtonian-view optical device was used (for schematics see Wooten, Hammond, Land

et al., 1999). The stimulus was a 1-deg, 570 nm circular test field with a luminance of 5.62

 cd/m^2 . A 2 mm artificial pupil was utilized to control for the effects of pupil size.

Table 1.

Demographic characteristics of Participants: Schizophrenia vs. Control Participants

	Schizophrenia Group	Control Group
Age	M = 41.47 years, $SD = 8.2$,	M = 41.13 years, $SD = 10.38$,
	Range = $26-55$ years	Range = $23-57$ years
Sex	8 men	8 men
	7 women	7 women
Ethnicity	10 Caucasians	10 Caucasians
	4 African-Americans	4 African-Americans
Smoking History	7 current smokers	10 current smokers
	3 past smokers	1 past smoker
	5 non-smokers	4 non-smokers
Diet (mean number of		
servings of fruits & vegetables	M = 8.25 (SD = 3.92)	M = 12.23 (SD = 8.52)
per week)		

Method and Procedures.

CFF was measured psychophysically using the ascending and descending method of limits. The experimenter adjusted the flickering rate of the stimulus (1-50 Hz range) until a threshold was obtained. Only the left eye was assessed. In order to expedite the progress of the experiment, dark adaptation for the SS portion of the study began during the CFF measurements. This was done by tightly patching the right eye of each participant at the beginning of the experiment. SS was only assessed in the participants' right eyes.

Methodology for MPOD Measures.

Apparatus.

The same Newtonian-view optical device used for CFF was employed for MPOD. A foveal test stimulus and a parafoveal reference stimulus were employed. The test stimulus was a 1-deg circular light, and the reference stimulus was a 2-deg circular light that fell approximately 7-deg out in the periphery. Both stimuli alternated between a 460 nm (8.6 cd/m²) measuring field (peak MP absorbance) and a 550 nm (3.0 cd/m²) reference field (minimal MP absorbance). A 10-deg, 2.75 cd/m², 470 nm circular background was also utilized for both stimuli. For parafoveal measurements, a 5-minute red fixation point was located in the left nasal hemi-retina on which participants were instructed to focus.

Method and Procedures.

MPOD was assessed using heterochromatic flicker photometry in accordance with the CAREDS protocol (Snodderly, Mares, Wooten et al., 2004), a standard protocol for measuring MPOD. The protocol included having the participants watch a short training film, which familiarized them with the stimuli and helped them understand exactly what they would be expected to do during the experiment. Measurements were acquired in the fovea (where MP is greatest) and in the parafovea (where light absorption by MP is negligible). The measuring and reference fields were superimposed and presented out of phase at an alternation rate of 11 to 12 Hz in the fovea condition and 6 to 7 Hz in the parafovea condition. These flicker rates were optimized for each participant using an algorithm based on flicker sensitivity thresholds (Snodderly et al., 2004). The participants adjusted the radiance of the 460 nm measuring field to

achieve minimal flicker with the 550 nm reference. Each experimental session consisted of multiple trials in order to obtain an average value.

Only the left eye of each participant was assessed. The MPOD of the left and right eyes of younger participants are usually well matched (Hammond & Fuld, 1992); however, studies have found small inter-ocular differences in older participants (i.e., participants over 50 years of age). For example, Snodderly et al. (2004) measured MPOD in the left and right eyes in participants between the ages of 50 and 79 years on two separate occasions and found a high correlation between the two eyes both times (r = 0.79 and r = 0.8, respectively). Although they did find some asymmetries in their data (i.e., measurements in the left eye were consistently lower), the differences were small (i.e., 0.05 OD), and the authors state that they were likely due to sampling bias.

Calculation of MPOD Values.

MPOD values were calculated by subtracting the log of measurements taken in the fovea (where MP is most densely concentrated) from the log of the measurements taken in the parafovea (where there is no MP). For a more complete discussion of the rationale behind this method of obtaining MPOD values see Snodderly and Hammond (1999).

Methodology for SS Measures.

Apparatus.

A Maxwellian-view optical system (see *Figure 1* for schematics) with a Fiber-Lite PL-900 DC Regulated Illuminator light source (Dolan-Jenner Industries: Lawrence, MA.) was constructed for the purposes of this project. Maxwellian-view allows the stimuli to be directly projected onto the retina and controls for any variations in pupil size. Two infrared cameras allowed constant viewing of the participant's iris and pupil and were used to constantly assure that the stimuli were precisely aligned. Precise alignment was facilitated by a chin- and foreheadrest assembly that controlled for head movements.

Three different wavelengths were employed for the SS measures. All three stimuli were 1.85-degrees in diameter and located at 10-deg eccentricity. The main wavelength measured was 510 nm, which falls near the peak of the human SS curve (i.e., approximately 507 nm) and rod spectral sensitivity curve (see *Figure 2*). A 410 nm stimulus and a 565 nm stimulus were also tested. The purpose of assessing these particular wavelengths was to acquire lens density values. Since the lens absorbs a small amount of light at 510 nm (Wyszecki & Stiles, 1982), measurements of lens density allowed an analysis of the effect of lens absorption on the thresholds obtained for each participant. Light at 565 nm is not absorbed by the lens, but light at 410 nm is heavily absorbed. Consequently, these two wavelengths were used to obtain lens density values based on the classic scotopic threshold method (for a review see Snodderly and Hammond, 1999).

Method and Procedures.

The present study did not obtain absolute SS measures. The SS measures obtained for this study were relative to the actual stimulus and experimental parameters employed in the study; thus, our SS measures will be hereafter referred to as log relative scotopic sensitivity (LRSS) values. Participants were dark adapted for a total of 40 minutes prior to testing. They were instructed to fixate on a red dot that was located in their right visual field throughout the entire experiment. The time of stimulus exposure was 1000 msec with a short interval before the next set of tones were presented. LRSS for the 410 nm and 565 nm stimuli was assessed using the method of limits to obtain an approximate threshold and the method of constant stimuli to obtain more precise thresholds.



Figure 1. Schematics of the Maxwellian-view optical system.



Figure 2. Rod extinction curve (solid line) with human scotopic sensitivity curve superimposed (dotted) (from Dartnall, 1953; CIE, 1951). Deviation at the shortwave end is due to the pre-retinal optical media (i.e., crystalline lens).

Much more extensive testing was done at 510 nm (compared to the 410 and 565 nm thresholds used for calculating lens OD). This testing was needed in order to generate the variability values that were used to derive the estimate of intrinsic noise. LRSS for the 510 nm stimulus was measured using a temporal two-alternative forced choice (2-AFC) paradigm. The

2-AFC paradigm developed for this project was similar to the one employed by Sturr, Zhang, Taub et al. (1997), and consisted of alternating trials when the stimulus was present and absent. The trials were presented by the experimenter and separated by two different auditory tones. Approximate thresholds were first assessed using the ascending and descending method of limits (the intensity of the test stimulus was varied progressively by approximately 0.05-log increments over a range of about 1 log unit) and the method of constant stimuli. The precise scotopic threshold was determined by utilizing the 2-AFC paradigm. The 510 nm stimulus was presented randomly after one of the two auditory tones. The participant's task was to indicate if the light appeared after the first or second tone. All correct and incorrect responses were recorded. Approximately 12 evenly spaced intensities (all intervals consisted of about 0.05 log units) below or above the previously estimated threshold was used. Each of these stimuli was presented a total of 8 times. Random performance (i.e., about 50% correct) was interpreted as the stimulus being below threshold. For the 2-AFC procedure, threshold was defined as the intensity that produced 75% correct responses. A similar cutoff was used for the 410 nm and 565 nm stimuli. Calculation of Scotopic Thresholds.

In order to obtain scotopic thresholds, a probit regression analysis was conducted on the data from the 510 nm test stimulus. This analysis allows the derivation of a frequency-of-seeing curve (or psychometric function) from which threshold estimates were mathematically derived (for an example see *Figure 3*). These thresholds were corrected for lens absorbance at 510 nm for each individual participant. Although studies have indicated that the absolute thresholds for healthy participants vary, the overall shape of the psychometric function remains relatively constant (e.g. Hallett, 1969). Thus, differences in the shape of the psychometric functions of the two populations tested were not expected.



Figure 3. Sample psychometric function from control participant #9 (LRSS = 3.59).

Derivation of Intrinsic Noise from Scotopic Thresholds.

The present study used a traditional way of measuring intrinsic noise within visual thresholds. Specifically, the amount of variability in the value of the scotopic threshold at 510 nm was measured. In order to assess variability, the average deviation of the individual data points from the probit regression line (best fit line through a scatterplot of log relative sensitivity vs. probit values) was calculated. These average deviation values served as the measure of

intrinsic noise. Based on this procedure, individuals with larger deviation values would be interpreted as having higher amounts of intrinsic noise, and individuals with smaller deviation values would be interpreted as having smaller amounts of intrinsic noise (see *Figure 4* for examples). In order to assess the replicability of this procedure for deriving intrinsic noise values, two participants (1 woman and 1 man, ages 20 and 27) were assessed on two separate occassions. Both participants had good ocular and systemic health and no history of mental disease. The average deviation values of the two participants from time one were 0.49 and 0.83, and the average deviation values of the participants from time two were 0.47 and 0.85, respectively. Although this comparison was only done on two participants, the fact that the values differed by only 0.02 suggests that the intrinsic noise estimates were reliable. Derivation of Lens Optical Density.

Lens OD was calculated by subtracting the LRSS value at 410 nm (where there is high lens absorbance) from the LRSS value at 565 nm (where there is minimal lens absorbance) (Wyszecki & Stiles, 1982). This method is referred to as the balanced-rhodopisn method; see Snodderly and Hammond (1999) or van Norren and Vos (1974) for a discussion of the rationale behind using this technique for obtaining lens OD.



Figure 4. Scatterplots of LRSS vs. Probits: a.) Example of participant with low levels of intrinsic noise. b.) Example of participant with high levels of intrinsic noise.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

Statistical Analyses on Demographics.

Non-directional independent samples t-tests were conducted on the age and diet data. The significance level for both of these analyses was 0.05. The results of the analysis on age indicated that the mean age of the schizophrenia group (M = 41.47 years, SD = 8.2) was not significantly different from the mean age of the control group (M = 41.13 years, SD = 10.38) (t(28) = -0.10, p < 0.92). The results of the analysis on diet indicated that the average number of servings of fruits and vegetables reported by the schizophrenia group (M = 8.25, SD = 3.92) did not significantly differ from the average reported by the control group (M = 12.23, SD = 8.52) (t(27) = 1.60, p < 0.12). Thus, the results revealed that in addition to being matched on ethnicity, smoking, and sex (as seen in Table 1), the two groups were sufficiently matched on age and possibly diet if it is assumed that the self-report information on diet was valid.

Main Statistical Analyses.

The mean values of the schizophrenia and control participants on the five dependent variables (DVs), intrinsic noise, LRSS (at 510 nm), lens OD, MPOD, and CFF, were compared using one-tailed independent samples t-tests. The significance value was set at p < 0.05 for each of these tests. The total n of 30 was reduced to 29 on the tests of intrinsic noise, LRSS, and lens OD with the deletion of one case that was missing data on these variables. This participant was a schizophrenia patient whom could not be properly aligned with the Maxwellian-view system due to an extremely small pupil; even after 40 minutes of dark adaptation the participant's pupil was

still approximately 2-3 mm. In addition, one significant outlier was removed from the analyses involving LRSS. This participant was also a member of the schizophrenia group, and his LRSS value (i.e., 0.60) fell 4.63 standard deviation units away from the mean of the distribution of all of the LRSS scores (i.e., 3.01), which could have significantly skewed the results. This participant was not removed from the remaining analyses performed for this study because it was determined that his removal did not make any significant differences in the outcome of those analyses. Thus, for all analyses involving LRSS n = 28.

The results of the t-tests on intrinsic noise and LRSS were not significant, indicating that there were no mean differences in the levels of intrinsic noise (t(27) = 0.10, p < 0.46) or LRSS (t(27) = 0.84, p < 0.21) between the schizophrenia (M = 0.76, SD = 0.14; M = 3.14, SD = 0.17, respectively) and control participants (M = 0.77, SD = 0.14; M = 3.07, SD = 0.26, respectively). Similar to the intrinsic noise and LRSS findings, the results of the t-test on lens OD indicated that there were no significant differences between the two groups (t(27) = 0.29, p < 0.39, n = 29); the mean lens OD of the schizophrenia group was 0.96 (SD = 0.24), and the mean lens OD of the control group was 0.94 (SD = 0.17). However, the results revealed a marginally significant difference in MPOD (t(28) = 1.45, p < 0.08) and a strong statistical difference in CFF (t(28) = 2.92, p < 0.004) between the two groups, with the control group (M = 0.29, SD = 0.14; M = 18.49 Hz, SD = 2.41, respectively) having slightly higher density values and much lower CFF values than the schizophrenia group (M = 0.22, SD = 0.10; M = 16.13 Hz, SD = 2.00, respectively). For a summary of the results see Table 2.1 and 2.2.

Table 2.1

Descriptive Statistics for the Schizophrenia and	Control Participants on Intrinsic Noise, L	RSS
(at 510 nm), Lens OD, MPOD, and CFF.		

	Schizophrenia Group	Control Group
Intrinsic Noise	$M = 0.76^{\text{b}} (SD = 0.14)$	$M = 0.77^{a}$ (SD = 0.14)
LRSS (at 510 nm)	$M = 3.14^{\circ} (SD = 0.17)$	$M = 3.07^{\rm a} \ (SD = 0.26)$
Lens OD	$M = 0.96^{\rm b} (SD = 0.24)$	$M = 0.94^{\rm a} (SD = 0.17)$
MPOD	$M = 0.22^{a}$ (SD = 0.10)	$M = 0.29^{a}$ (SD = 0.14)
CFF	$M = 16.13 \text{ Hz}^{a}$ ($SD = 2.00$)	$M = 18.49 \text{ Hz}^{a}$ ($SD = 2.41$)
n = 15		

a. *n* = 15

b. *n* = 14

c. *n* = 13

Table 2.2.

Results from the Directional Independent Samples T-tests Comparing Schizophrenia and Control Participants on Intrinsic Noise, LRSS (at 510 nm), Lens OD, MPOD, and CFF.

	t-value	df	p-value	n
Intrinsic Noise	0.10	27	0.46	29
LRSS (at 510 nm)	0.84	26	0.21	28
Lens OD	0.29	27	0.39	29
MPOD	1.45	28	0.08+	30
CFF	2.92	28	0.004*	30

* Statistically significant result.

+ Marginally significant result.

Correlational Analyses.

The possible relations between the five DVs (intrinsic noise, LRSS at 510 nm, lens OD, MPOD, and CFF) were investigated with a series of Pearson's r correlational analyses (p < 0.05). None of the correlational analyses were significant except for the analysis on MPOD and LRSS. There was a statistically significant positive association between MPOD and LRSS (r = 0.54, p < 0.002, n = 28). See Table 3 for a summary of the correlational analyses.

Table 3.

Pearson Correlation Matrix.

	Intrinsic	LRSS	Lens OD	MPOD	CFF
	Noise	(at 510 nm)			
Intrinsic Noise	1.0	0.07	-0.03	-0.18	0.05
LRSS (at 510 nm)	0.07	1.0	-0.24	0.54^{a}	-0.08
Lens OD	-0.03	-0.24	1.0	0.09	0.24
MPOD	-0.18	0.54 ^a	0.09	1.0	-0.009
CFF	0.05	-0.08	0.24	-0.009	1.0

a. Statistically significant at p < 0.002 level, one-tailed, n = 28

Note: For all correlations involving LRSS n = 28, and for all correlations involving intrinsic noise and/or lens OD (but not LRSS) n = 29. For all other correlations n = 30.

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

Hypothesis 1.

The results failed to support the main hypothesis (i.e., the *Noisy Input Hypothesis of Schizophrenia*), which was based on the idea that schizophrenia participants would have increased levels of intrinsic noise compared to normal, matched controls. There were no differences in intrinsic noise between the schizophrenia participants and the controls. In fact, the mean intrinsic noise values of the two groups were almost identical and their standard deviation values were the same. The nearly identical results between the two groups argue strongly for both the precision of the measures and the strong similarity of the groups on these particular measures. Of course, schizophrenia participants could have other sources of visual input (e.g., photopic) that are noisier than controls, which future studies should explore.² One might assume, however, that high levels of intrinsic noise for one visual mechanism would predict high levels of intrinsic noise in another. If this assumption is true, it would suggest that schizophrenia participants do not have amplified intrinsic noise at the most initial stages of visual processing (i.e., retinal stage). The fact that schizophrenia participants are so similar to normal participants with respect to scotopic intrinsic noise at the retinal level implies that if they do have increased

² An initial attempt at addressing this question would be to simply evaluate the generalizability of intrinsic noise in the visual system. A literature search revealed, however, that this basic question has not been studied. This question would be easy to address in normal participants. If there is a significant correlation between intrinsic noise in scotopic and photopic thresholds, for example, there would be little reason to suspect that schizophrenia participants would have increased intrinsic noise in photopic thresholds given the results of the present study.

intrinsic noise compared to controls, the origin of that noise is post-receptoral. It is also important to note that, although schizophrenia participants may not have higher levels of noisy input compared to controls, they may actually suffer from such intrinsic noise more significantly. It is probably the case that intrinsic noise at all levels of the visual system interacts in complex ways. Thus, even normal amounts of scotopic intrinsic noise might be clinically meaningful if added to increased intrinsic noise at other levels (i.e., cortical-level) of the visual system.

The probability that schizophrenia participants have increased intrinsic noise at other levels of their visual system is high. For example, Winterer, Coppola, Goldberg et al. (2004) found that schizophrenia participants (and their clinically unaffected siblings) have significantly higher intrinsic noise in their frontal cortices than controls. They also determined that intrinsic noise was negatively correlated with the participants' performance on cognitive tasks, particularly those involving working memory and executive cognition. The authors postulate that increased prefrontal noise may be a genetic biomarker for suceptibility to schizophrenia. Although this finding has yet to be extended to the visual system, it provides rationale for studying cortical differences in sensory areas between patient and normal populations. Individuals with schizophrenia also have problems with cortical inhibition. Auditory eventrelated potential (ERP) studies have indicated that they exhibit significantly smaller P300 amplitudes to target attended stimuli than controls and reduced positive potentials in ERPs for unattended, non-target stimuli (Iwanami, Kanamori, Isono et al., 1996). Moreover, Clementz, Geyer, and Braff (1998) found that schizophrenia patients have decreased P50 supression compared to normal controls, which has been linked to impaired inhibition and a specific "vulnerability to sensory overload and cognitive fragmentation" (p. 1691). This phenomenon may exacerbate the influence of intrinsic noise on function and it more of a nuisance for

schizophrenia patients compared to controls. In particular, since schizophrenia patients have problems inhibiting irrelevant information (such as intrinsic noise), they may be more affected by scotopic intrinsic noise than controls.

Hypotheses 2 & 3.

The results of the present study also failed to support Hypotheses 2 and 3, which predicted the schizophrenia participants would have lower LRSS values than the controls and that LRSS would be negatively related to intrinsic noise. There were no significant group differences in LRSS and no association between LRSS and scotopic intrinsic noise. The lack of association between LRSS and scotopic intrinsic noise was not surprising, since there was very little variability in the LRSS measures (SD = 0.17, schizophrenia patients & SD = 0.26, controls) and even less variability in the intrinsic noise measures (SD = 0.14, schizophrenia patients & controls) compared to other variables measured (e.g., CFF: SD = 2.00, patients & SD = 2.40, controls). In contrast, the results of the test of Hypothesis 2 were surprising given the strong line of evidence (presented in the introduction) showing biological changes in schizophrenia participants that should result in LRSS deficits. For examples, past studies have found that participants with neuroses and psychoses have significantly lower SS (Granger, 1957), and schizophrenia participants have significantly impaired M pathways (Butler et al., 2001; Cadenhead et al., 1998), which plays a dominant role in scotopic vision (Benedek et al., 2003). One possible explanation as to why no differences in LRSS were found between the two groups was that the sample size was small. It is unlikely, however, that the sample was too small to obtain a reasonable estimate of the average LRSS of schizophrenia participants (e.g., the data were relatively normally distributed). If that is the case, a larger sample would only increase the

probability that the small difference found (2.3%) would be statistically significant. It is doubtful that such a small magnitude of difference is clinically meaningful.

Perhaps a more likely explanation is that the results were confounded by medication-use. The majority of the schizophrenia participants were on atypical antipsychotic medications (e.g. risperidone, olanzapine, etc.), which act on several neurotransmitter systems in the brain including the dopamine (DA) and serotonin (5-HT) systems. Past studies have found that DA and 5-HT affect the dark-adapted ERG response in the cat retina (Naarendorp, Hitchcock, & Sieving, 1993; Naarendorp & Sieving, 1991). However, Naarendorp et al. (1993) found that although DA (in particular) modulates signals in the rod pathway at higher stimulus intensities, it does not affect the absolute scotopic threshold. Thus, the effect of medication on the LRSS measures is unclear. In order to more closely examine this possibility, drug-naïve schizophrenia participants should be studied.

Hypotheses 4 & 5.

In addition to intrinsic noise and LRSS, lens OD was also tested in order to assess any group differences and investigate any relations between the density of the crystalline lens and intrinsic noise. Hypothesis 4 predicted that the schizophrenia participants would have significantly increased lens OD compared to the controls. Hypothesis 5 predicted that lens OD would be significantly related to intrinsic noise. The results did not support either hypothesis. The schizophrenia participants did not have significantly denser lenses, and lens OD and intrinsic noise were not significantly correlated. Similar to the LRSS measures, there was very little variation in the lens OD values of the two groups (SD = 0.24, schizophrenia patients & SD = 0.17, controls), which could account for the lack of association between lens OD and intrinsic noise. Two logical reasons for why there were no differences in lens OD between the two groups

are that the schizophrenia participants were taking <u>atypical</u> antipsychotic medications, which have not been linked to increased density of the crystalline lens, and two groups were matched on age. Age is strongly linked to increased lens OD (e.g. Pokorny, Smith, & Lutze 1987). <u>Hypothesis 6</u>.

Hypothesis 6 stated that the schizophrenia participants would have significantly decreased MPOD compared to the controls. The results revealed that the schizophrenia patients had marginally decreased MPOD compared to matched controls. Although the results did not reach statistical significance, they were substantial. Given the high similarity between the schizophrenia participants and controls on most of the other variables, the differences in mean MPOD of the schizophrenia participants (M = 0.22, SD = 0.1) and the control participants (M =0.29, SD = 0.14) were large (24%). The average value obtained for the control group is consistent with the mean density value (M = 0.28) reported in a recently published study, which assessed MPOD using the same stimulus parameters, apparatus, and procedures that were used in the present study and measured healthy individuals of approximately the same age range (Ciulla & Hammond, 2004). As evident from the standard deviation value reported in the Ciulla and Hammond article (i.e., SD = 0.21), MP tends to be more variable across participants, so the marginal statistical significance (p < 0.08), in this case, is probably due to an insufficient sample size. Furthermore, a power analysis revealed that there was insufficient statistical power $(1-\beta =$ 0.46) to detect a difference. In order to have sufficient power, 31 schizophrenia participants and 44 controls would need to be tested.

If schizophrenia participants have decreased MP, supplementing L and Z for these patients could produce clinically meaningful improvements. Studies have found that supplementation with omega fatty acids significantly reduced the symptoms of schizophrenia.

For example, supplementation with EPA (which is a precursor to DHA) was shown to reduce the positive and negative symptoms in a case study of a non-medicated schizophrenia patient over a sustained period of time (Puri, Steiner, & Richardson, 1998). In addition, Arvindakshan et al. (2003a) supplemented a group of schizophrenia participants with a combination of omega-3 fatty acids and antioxidants (in addition to their normal doctor-prescribed antipsychotic medication) and found a significant reduction in the negative and positive symptoms of the patients. DHA, in particular, seems to be related to a reduction in the negative symptoms of schizophrenia (Arvindakshan, Sitasawad, Debsikdar et al., 2003b). These results indicate that dietary modifications of omega fatty acids, DHA in particular, are an effective way of improving the symptoms of schizophrenia. As mentioned, past studies have found that DHA significantly influences retinal concentrations of MP (Leung et al., 2004; Snodderly et al., 2005). Therefore, it is possible that supplementation with DHA coupled with L and Z (the carotenoids that comprise MP) could provide additional benefits to schizophrenia participants in terms of their primary symptoms as well as other secondary symptoms. For example, based on the strong relation between MP and CFF (Hammond and Wooten, 2005), supplementation with DHA, L, and Z could improve the CFF deficits found in the disorder.

Hypothesis 7.

The results failed to support Hypothesis 7, which stated that intrinsic noise is positively correlated with MPOD. There was not a significant association between these two variables in the initial sample (n = 29). However, when 11 more control participants (5 men & 6 women; mean age = 31.36 years, age range = 19-59 years) were added, there was a significant, negative association (r = -0.38, p < 0.01, n = 40, see *Figure 5*) between MPOD (M = 0.26, SD = 0.14) and scotopic intrinsic noise (M = 0.76, SD = 0.16). Thus, the initial sample size was simply not large

enough to allow a sufficient evaluation of the relation between these two variables. A significant negative correlation between MPOD and intrinsic noise implies that increases in MPOD, which can be modified via dietary supplementation with the carotenoids L and Z (for review see Landrum & Bone, 2001), leads to decreases in intrinsic noise in the visual system and may improve visual functioning.



Figure 5. Scatterplot of MPOD vs. Intrinsic Noise with regression line [Y = 0.87 + (-0.43)x]. r = -0.38, p < 0.01, n = 40

Hypothesis 8.

Hypothesis 8 predicted that schizophrenia patients have decreased CFF values compared to normal, healthy participants. The results supported this hypothesis. The mean CFF value of the schizophrenia group was significantly lower than the mean CFF value of the control group, which was consistent with the findings of Black et al. (1975). However, future studies should test the entire TMTF on schizophrenia participants in order to see if they have any differences other than CFF (the high cut-off value of the TMTF).

Hypotheses 9 & 10.

Hypotheses 9 and 10 stated that MPOD is positively related to CFF and LRSS, respectively. Hypothesis 9 was not supported; the correlation between MPOD and CFF was not significant. This finding is inconsistent with that reported by Hammond and Wooten (2005) who found a significant positive correlation between these two variables. Since Hammond and Wooten also indicated that there is a significant relation between CFF and age, the data of the present study were reanalyzed after excluding the younger individuals (i.e., individuals under the age of 36). However, the test still did not reach statistical significance. One possible difference between the present study and Hammond and Wooten's study is that the average MP and CFF values of schizophrenia participants of the present study were low, and the strength of the correlation may have been reduced due to the restriction in range. In order to explore this possibility, an additional analysis excluding the patient population was conducted. The results of this analysis were also not significant. However, the exclusion criteria resulted in only 9 participants comprising the total sample; thus, it is unlikely that any correlational analysis would be significant with such a small sample of participants. The question of whether the present data adequately address hypothesis 9 is, therefore, open to question.

The results supported Hypothesis 10. Consistent with Hammond et al. (1998), there was a statistically significant positive relation between MPOD and LRSS. As noted, the macular carotenoids are found in rod outer-segments and could influence rod function. The overall strength of this relation, however, was not strong.

Concluding Remarks.

The fact that the schizophrenia and normal participants had such indistinguishable LRSS and scotopic intrinsic noise values has a number of implications. As noted by Cohn and Lasley (1986), noise can arise from many sources (e.g., externally, based on the quantum nature of light). External sources of noise would obviously not differ between the two groups; therefore, it was assumed that any differences in noise between these groups would arise from intrinsic sources. Intrinsic noise itself, however, could also originate from many sources ranging from fixation accuracy to changes in the membrane dynamics of photoreceptors. As such, the fact that the schizophrenia participants were so similar implies that, for the current experimental conditions, the schizophrenia participants did not differ. Furthermore, the finding that there was no relation between LRSS and scotopic intrinsic noise strongly supports Cohn's additional argument that scotopic thresholds are the least impacted by intrinsic noise.

In addition, the present results have important implications for past studies that have suggested that schizophrenia participants have an M pathway deficit (e.g., Kéri et al., 2002; Slaghius & Bishop, 2001; Cadenhead et al., 1998). For example, Slaghuis and Bishop (2001) found that schizophrenia participants displayed FS deficits only for stimuli thought to reflect M pathway function (i.e., stimuli modulated at medium and high temporal frequencies) versus stimuli thought to reflect parvocellular (P) pathway function (i.e., stimuli modulated at low temporal frequencies). Given that rod thresholds are thought to be mediated by the M pathway

and schizophrenia participants have an M pathway deficit, significant differences in rod thresholds (and accompanying intrinsic noise) were expected. The present study did not find such differences, which implies that if schizophrenia patients have impairments in the M pathway (a wide-held conclusion supported by a large amount of data), the loci of those deficits are most likely post-receptoral. This interpretation is consistent with the finding that schizophrenia participants have significantly reduced CFF thresholds compared to controls. As noted, CFF is considered to be determined by cortical processing at the level of the visual cortex but is also thought to be mediated by the M pathway. These results are similar to those reported for dyslexics.

Much like schizophrenia, it has been widely concluded through psychophysical, physiological, and anatomical data that there is an M pathway deficit in dyslexia (Demb, Boynton, Best et al., 1998; Livingstone, Rosen, Drislane et al., 1991; Stein, 2001; Stein & Walsh, 1997). For example, Livingstone et al. (1991) found that the cells of the magnocellular layers of the lateral geniculate nucleus (LGN) of 5 dyslexic brains were on average 27% smaller than those of control brains, and there were no differences in cell sizes in the parvocellular layers. Furthermore, it was widely assumed that dyslexics would also have scotopic impairments. For example, DHA supplementation for dyslexia has been suggested as a mean of addressing M pathway deficits based on the idea that altered rod function could be corrected by increased omega-fatty acids in the outer-segments of rods (Stordy, 1995; 2000). Careful testing, however, has shown that dyslexics do not actually have scotopic deficits (Greatrex, Drasdo, & Dresser, 2000). Moreover, the anatomical findings of the studies on dyslexia (i.e., smaller M cells in the LGN of dyslexics) lend further support to the implication that the M pathway deficit in schizophrenia is post-receptoral in origin. Specifically, it is possible that schizophrenia participants also have anatomical changes in the M layers of the LGN. This possibility is consistent with the results of Kim et al. (2005), which suggested that the visual deficits found in schizophrenia may originate at the lower levels of processing (i.e., at the pre-cortical level or at the level of area V1). Future studies should explore this possibility.

One caveat to the firm conclusion that schizophrenia participants have similar LRSS to normal control participants is that the schizophrenia participants in the current study were not taking typical medications. The majority of the schizophrenia participants assessed in past studies, particularly the studies that indicated an M pathway deficit in the disorder (i.e., Kéri et al., 2002; Cadenhead et al., 1998; Slaghuis & Bishop, 2001), were taking typical antipsychotic medications. All antipsychotic drugs block DA receptors (specifically D2 receptors) in the brain. One main difference between typical and atypical antipsychotic drugs is that typical antipsychotics tend to be nonspecific and block DA receptors in many different pathways of the brain such as the mesolimbic, mesocortical, tuberoinfundibular, and nigrostriatal pathways. In contrast, atypical antipsychotic drugs are more selective and target the intended pathway (i.e., mesolimbic pathway) to a much larger degree than the other pathways (for review see Serretti, De Ronchi, Lorenzi et al., 2004). In addition, most atypical antipsychotics also block or partially block 5-HT receptors. This combination of effects on the dopaminergic and serotinergic systems may explain why the newer, atypical antipsychotic medications tend to have fewer aversive sideeffects. Therefore, it is possible that one reason past studies have found M pathway deficits in schizophrenia is that their schizophrenia patients were taking typical antipsychotic medications. It is unclear whether schizophrenia participants on atypical antipsychotic medications even have M pathway deficits, and they may not be representative of the other groups. This possibility is consistent with results from Antal, Kéri, Szekeres et al. (1999) who found that schizophrenia

patients taking the atypical antipsychotic, olanzapine, did not exhibit any CS deficits (as noted most studies using schizophrenia patients on typical medications do show CS deficits). Thus, future studies should assess the effects of typical and atypical antipsychotic medications on LRSS and magnocellular activity in the same participants, as well as the functioning of never-medicated schizophrenia participants, in order to further explore this implication.

REFERENCES

- Antal, A., Kéri, S., Szekeres, G. et al. (1999). The atypical antipsychotic olanzapine does not induced parkinsonian visuo-perceptual deficits (abstract). *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 9 (suppl 5): S259.
- Arvindakshan, M., Ghate, M., Ranjekar, P. K., Evans, D. R., & Mahadik, S. P. (2003a).
 Supplementation with a combination of ω-3 fatty acids and antioxidants (vitamins E and C) improves the outcomes of schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research*, *62*, 195-204.
- Arvindakshan, M., Sitasawad, S., Debsikdar, V., Ghate, M., Evans, D. R., Horrobin, D. F.,
 Bennett, C., Ranjekar, P. K., & Mahadik, S. P. (2003b). Essential polyunsaturated fatty acid and lipid peroxide levels in never-medicated and medicated schizophrenia patients. *Biological Psychiatry*, 53, 56-64.
- Assies, J., Lieverse, R., Vreken, P., Wanders, R. J. A., Dingemans, P. M. J. A., & Linszen, D. H.
 (2001). Significantly reduced docosahexaenoic and docosapentaenoic acid concentrations in erythrocyte membranes from schizophrenic patients compared with a carefully matched control group. *Biological Psychiatry*, 49, 510-522.
- Baylor, D. A., Nunn, B. J., & Schnapf, J. L. (1984). The photocurrent, noise, and spectral sensitivity of rods of the monkey *Macaca fascicularis*. *The Journal of Physiology*, 357, 575-607.
- Benedek, G., Benedek, K., Kéri, S., Letoha, T., & Janáky, M. (2003). Human scotopic spatiotemporal sensitivity: A comparison of psychophysical and electrophysical data. *Documenta Ophthalmologica*, 106, 201-207.

- Black, S., Franklin, L. M., de Silva, F. P., & Wijewickrama, H. S. (1975). The flicker-fusion threshold in schizophrenia and depression. *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, 81, 244-246.
- Bone, R. A., Landrum, J. T., & Tarsis, S. L. (1985). Preliminary identification of the human macular pigment. *Vision Research*, *25*, 1531-1535.
- Braff, D. L., Saccuzzo, D. P., & Geyer, M. A. (1991). Information processing dysfunctions in schizophrenia: Studies of visual backward masking, sensorimotor gating, and habituation. In Steinhauer, S. R., Gruzelier, J. H., & Zubin, J. (Eds.), *Handbook of Schizophrenia*, *Vol. 5.* (pp. 303-334). New York: Elsevier.
- Bush, R. A., Malnoë, A., Remé, C. E., & Williams, T. P. (1994). Dietary deficiency of n-3 fatty acids alters rhodopsin content and function in the rat retina. *Investigative Ophthalmology* & *Visual Science*, *35*, 91-100.
- Butler, P. D., Harkavy-Friedman, J. M., Amador, X. F., & Gorman, J. M. (1996). Backward masking in schizophrenia: relationship to medication status, neuropsychological functioning, and dopamine metabolism, *Biological Psychiatry*, 40(4), 295-298.
- Butler, P. D., Schechter, I., Zemon, V., Schwartz, S. G., Greenstein, V. C., Gordon, J., Schroeder, C. E., & Javitt, D. C. (2001). Dysfunction of early-stage visual processing in schizophrenia. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 158, 7, 1126-1133.
- Cadenhead, K. S., Serper, Y., & Braff, D. L. (1998). Transient versus sustained visual channels in the visual backward masking deficits in schizophrenia patients. *Biological Psychiatry*, 43, 132-138.

- Ciulla, T. A. & Hammond, B. R., Jr. (2004). Macular pigment density and aging, assessed in the normal elderly and those with cataracts and age-related macular degeneration. *American Journal of Ophthalmology*, 138(4), 582-589.
- CIE (1951). CIE Scotopic luminosity curve. *CIE Proceedings (1951)*. Vol. 1, Sec 4; Vol. 3. Paris: Bureau Central de la CIE, p. 37.
- Clementz, B. A., Geyer, M. A., & Braff, D. L. (1998). Poor P50 suppression among schizophrenia patients and their first-degree biological relatives. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 155(12), 1691-1694.
- Cohn, T. E. (2004) Thresholds and noise. In L. M. Chalupa & J. S. Werner (Eds.), *The Visual Neurosciences* (pp. 811-824). Cambridge, Mass: Massachusetts Institute of Technology Press.
- Cohn, T. E. & Lasley, D. J. (1986). Visual sensitivity. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *37*, 495-521.
- Copenhagen, D. R., Donner, K., & Reuter, T. (1987). Ganglion cell performance at absolute threshold in toad retina: Effects of dark events in rods. *The Journal of Physiology, 393*, 667-680.
- Curran, S. & Wattis, J. (2000). Critical flicker fusion threshold: A potentially useful measure for the early detection of Alzheimer's disease. *Human Psychopharmacology: Clinical and Experimental*, 15, 103-112.
- Curran, S., Wilson, S., Musa, S., & Wattis, J. (2004). Critical flicker fusion threshold in patients with Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 19, 575-581.

- Dartnall, H. J. A. (1953). The interpretation of spectral sensitivity curves. *British Medical Bulletin. 9*, 24-30.
- Demb, J. B., Boynton, G. M., Best, M., & Heeger, D. J. (1998). Psychophysical evidence for a magnocellular pathway deficit in dyslexia. *Vision Research*, 38(11), 1555-1559.
- Donner, K. (1992). Noise and the absolute thresholds of cone and rod vision. *Vision Research*, *32*(5), 853-866.
- Granger, G. W. (1957). Effect of psychiatric disorder on visual thresholds. *Science*, *125*, 200-501.
- Greatrex, J. C. & Drasdo, N., & Dresser, K. (2000). Scotopic sensitivity in dyslexia and requirements for DHA supplementation. *Lancet*, *355*, 1429-1430.
- Green, M. F., Nuechterlein, K. H., & Breitmeyer, B. G. (1997). Backward masking performance in unaffected siblings of schizophrenic patients. Evidence for a vulnerability indicator, *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 54, 465-472.
- Green, M. F., Nuechlerlein, K. H., Breitmeyer, B., & Mintz, J. (1999). Backward masking in unmedicated schizophrenic patients in psychotic remission: Possible reflection of aberrant cortical oscillation. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 156, 1367-1373.
- Hallett, P. E. (1969). The variation in visual threshold measurement. *Journal of Physiology*, 202, 403-419.
- Hammond, B. R., Jr & Fuld, K. (1992). Interocular differences in macular pigment density, *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, *33*, 350-355.
- Hammond & Wooten (2005). CFF Thresholds: relation to macular pigment optical density *Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics*, 25, 315-319.

- Hammond, B. R., Jr., Wooten, B. R., & Snodderly, D. M. (1998). Preservation of visual sensitivity of older subjects: Association with macular pigment density, *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 39, 397-406.
- Horrobin, D. F. (1998). The membrane phospholipids hypothesis as a biochemical basis for the neurodevelopmental concept of schizophrenia, *Schizophrenia Research, 30*, 193-208.
- Iwanami A ; Kanamori R ; Isono H ; Okajima Y ; Kamijima K (1996). Impairment of inhibition of unattended stimuli in schizophrenic patients: Event-related potential correlates during selective attention, *Neuropsychobiology*, 34(2), 57-62.
- Kelly, D. H. (1983). Spatiotemporal variation of chromatic and achromatic contrast thresholds. *Journal of Optical Society of America, 73,* 742-750.
- Kelly, D. H. (1984). Retinal inhomogeneity. I. Spatiotemporal contrast sensitivity. *Journal of the Optical Society of America A, 1,* 107-113.
- Kéri, S., Antal, A., Szekeres, G., Benedek, G., & Janka, Z. (2002). Spatiotemporal visual processing in schizophrenia. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry & Clinical Neuroscience*, 14, 190-196.
- Khan, M. M., Evans, D. R., Gunna, V., Scheffer, R. E., Parikh, V. V., & Mahadik, S. P. (2002).
 Reduced erythrocyte membrane essential fatty acids and increased lipid peroxides in schizophrenia at the never-medicated first-episode of psychosis and after years of treatment with antipsychotics. *Schizophrenia Research*, 58, 1-10.
- Kim, D., Zemon, V., Saperstein, A., Butler, P. D., & Javitt, D. C. (2005). Dysfunction of early-stage visual processing in schizophrenia: harmonic analysis. *Schizophrenia Research*, 76 (1), 55-65.

- Landrum, J. T. & Bone, R. A. (2001). Lutein, zeaxanthin, and the macular pigment. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 385(1), 28-40.
- Leung, I. Y.-F., Sandstrom, M. M., Zucker, C. L., Neuringer, M., & Snodderly, D. M. (2004).
 Nutritional manipulation of primate retinas, II: Effects of age, n-3 fatty acids, lutein,
 zeaxanthin on retinal pigment epithelium. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*,
 45 (9), 3244-3256.
- Livingstone, M. S., Rosen, G. D., Drislane, F. W., & Galaburda, A. M. (1991). Physiological and anatomical evidence for a magnocellular defect in developmental dyslexia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 88(18), 7943-7947.
- Naarendorp, F., Hitchcock, P. F., & Sieving, P. A. (1993). Dopaminergic modulation of rod pathway signals does not affect the scotopic ERG of cat at dark-adapted threshold. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 70(4), 1681-1691.
- Naarendorp, F. & Sieving, P. A. (1991). The scotopic threshold response of the cat ERG is suppressed selectively by GABA and glycine. *Vision Research*, *31*(1), 1-15.
- Phipps, J. A., Dang, T. M., Vingrys, A. J., & Guymer, R. H. (2004). Flicker perimetry losses in age-related macular degeneration. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 45(9), 3355-3360.
- Pokorny, J., Smith, V. C., & Lutze, M. (1987). Aging of the human lens. Applied Optics, 26, 1437-1440.
- Puri, B. K., Steiner, R., & Richardson, A. J. (1998). Sustained remission of positive and negative symptoms of schizophrenia following treatment with eicosapentaenoic acid. Archives of General Psychiatry, 55, 188-189.

- Rapp, L. M., Maple, S. S., & Choi, J. H. (2000). Lutein and zeaxanthin concentrations in rod outer segment membranes from perifoveal and peripheral human retina. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, *41*(5), 1200-1209.
- Schwartz, B. D., McGinn, T., & Winstead, D. K. (1987). Disordered spatiotemporal processing in schizophrenics. *Biological Psychiatry*, 22, 688-698.
- Serretti, A., De Ronchi, D., Lorenzi, C., & Berardi, D. (2004). New antipsychotics and schizophrenia: a review on efficacy and side effects. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 11(3), 343-358.
- Shahzad, S., Suleman, M-I., Shahab, H., Mazour, I., Kaur, A., Rudzinskiy, P., & Lippmann, S. (2002). Cataract occurrence with antipsychotic drugs. *Psychosomatics*, *43*(5), 354-359.
- Simonson, E. & Brožek, J. (1952). Flicker fusion frequency; background and applications. *Physiological Reviews*, *32*(3), 349-378.
- Slaghuis (1998) Constrast sensitivity for stationary and drifting spatial frequency gratings in positive- and negative-symptom schizophrenia. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 107, 1, 49-62.
- Slaghuis, W. L., & Bakker, V. J. (1995). Forward and backward visual masking of contour by light in positive- and negative-symptom schizophrenia. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 104, 41-54.
- Slaghuis, W.L. & Bishop, A. M. (2001). Luminance flicker sensitivity in positive- and negativesymptom schizophrenia, *Experimental Brain Research*, *138*, 88-99.
- Slaghuis, W. L., & Curran, C. E. (1999). Spatial frequency masking in positive- and negativesymptom schizophrenia. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *108*, 42-50.

- Snodderly, D. M., Chung, H. C., Caldarella, S. M., & Johnson, E. J. (2005). The influence of supplemental lutein and docosahexaenoic acid on their serum levels and on macular pigment. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 46: E-Abstract 1766.
- Snodderly, D. M. & Hammond, B. R. (1999). In vivo psychophysical assessment of nutritional and environmental influences on human ocular tissues, lens, and macular pigment. In A. J. Taylor (Ed.), *Nutritional and Environmental Influences on Vision* (pp. 251-273). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Snodderly, D. M., Mares, J. A., Wooten, B. R., Oxton, L., Gruber, M., & Ficek, T. (2004).
 Macular pigment measurement by heterochromatic flicker photometry in older subjects: The Carotenoids and age-related eye disease study. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 45 (2), 531-538.

Stein, J. (2001). The magnocellular theory of developmental dyslexia. Dyslexia, 7(1), 12-36.

- Stein, J. & Walsh, V. (1997). To see but not to read; the magnocellular theory of dyslexia. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 20(4), 147-152.
- Stordy, B. J. (1995). Benefit of docosahexaenoic acid supplements to dark adaptation in dyslexics. *Lancet*, 346, 385.
- Stordy, B. J. (2000). Dark adaptation, motor skills, docosahexaenoic acid, and dyslexia. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 71, 3238 - 326S.
- Sturr, J. F., Zhang, L., Taub, H. A., Hannon, D. J., & Jackowski, M. M. (1997). Psychophysical evidence for losses in rod sensitivity in the aging visual system. *Vision Research*, 37 (4), 475-481.
- van Norren, D. & Vos, J. J. (1974). Spectral transmission of the human ocular media. *Vision Research, 14,* 1237-1244.

- van Rossum, M. C. & Smith, R. G. (1998). Noise removal at the rod synapse of mammalian retina. *Visual Neuroscience*, *15*, 809-821.
- Voruganti, L. N. P., Heslegrave, R. J., & Awad, A. G. (1997). Neurocognitive correlates of positive and negative syndromes in schizophrenia. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 42, 1066-1071.
- Warner, R., Laugharne, J., Peet, M., Brown, L., & Rogers, N. (1999). Retinal function as a marker for cell membrane omega-3 fatty acid depletion in schizophrenia: A pilot study. *Biological Psychiatry*, 45, 1138-1142.
- Winterer, G., Coppola, R., Goldberg, T. E., Egan, M. F., Jones, D. W., Sanchez, C. E., &
 Weinberger, D. R. (2004). Prefrontal broadband noise, working memory, and genetic risk for schizophrenia. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *161*(3), 490-500.
- Wells, E. F., Bernstein, G. M., Scott, B. W., Bennett, P. J., & Mendelson, J. R. (2001). Critical flicker fusion frequency responses in visual cortex. *Experimental Brain Research*, 139, 106-110.
- Werner, J. S. (1996). Visual problems of the retina during ageing: Compensation mechanisms and color constancy across the life span. *Progress in Retinal and Eye Research*, 15 (2), 621-645.
- Wooten, B. R., Hammond, B. R., Jr., Land, R. I., Snodderly, D. M. (1999). A practical method for measuring macular pigment optical density, *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 40, 2481-2489.

Wyszecki, G. & Stiles, W. S. (1982). Color Science. 2nd ed., Wiley, New York.